FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
5/9/2019 4:17 PM

Supreme Court No. 97190-1  
(COA No. 50864-8-II)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SHAWN FITZPATRICK,

Petitioner.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

TIFFINIE MA  
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206) 587-2711  
tiffinie@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Shawn Fitzpatrick asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Fitzpatrick*, No. 50864-8-II (issued on April 9, 2019). A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The warrantless use of a narcotics-detection dog around the exterior of a home disturbs a private affair within the meaning of article I, section 7. This Court has also repeatedly held article I, section 7 provides greater privacy protections for vehicles than the Fourth Amendment. Moreover, unlike the Fourth Amendment, our constitution does not depend on “reasonable expectations of privacy.” Does the application of a narcotics detection dog to the exterior of a person’s car disturb a private affair such that article I, section 7 requires a warrant prior to the intrusion? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. Washington courts adhere to the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test for determining the reliability of an informant’s tip. Dog alerts are treated like informant tips for purposes of evaluating reliability. Did the State fail to establish the reliability of the dog alert in this case, where the affidavit in support of the search warrant contained no information

about the animal's track record or whether it had ever been used to detect the odor of controlled substances in the field?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shawn Fitzpatrick was pulled over for speeding. RP 178. He had two passengers with him. *Id.* When Trooper Kyle Lindemann came to his window, Mr. Fitzpatrick readily admitted he did not have a valid license. RP 179. The trooper arrested Mr. Fitzpatrick and placed him in his patrol vehicle. RP 110, 179. Trooper Lindemann testified that Mr. Fitzpatrick told him he was going to "Portland or Vancouver." RP 110. Trooper Lindemann requested assistance with the traffic stop, and Woodland Police Officer Derek Kelley responded. CP 10; RP 179.

Once at the scene, Trooper Lindemann told Officer Kelley that Mr. Fitzpatrick was driving to Vancouver to visit his sick mother and pick up a different car. CP 10. Officer Kelley spoke to the front passenger, Dustin German. CP 11; RP 221. Upon learning Mr. German had a Department of Corrections warrant, Officer Kelley arrested him. CP 11. Mr. German appeared nervous and unable to sit still, and his eyes were droopy. CP 10-11; RP 221. Mr. German told the officer they were traveling to Vancouver to see his mother, but later stated they were going to Newport, Oregon to pick up his girlfriend. CP 11. Based

on his training as a drug recognition expert, Officer Kelley believed Mr. German was under the influence of methamphetamine, and Mr. German admitted he had “been on a weeklong methamphetamine bender” and had not slept during that time. CP 11; RP 221. In a search incident to his arrest, Officer Kelley found Mr. German’s wallet which contained a notebook with names, nicknames, and phone numbers. CP 11. He also located a bag of syringes. *Id.*

The rear passenger, Valerie Ray, told the officer they were going to Kelso and then to Portland. CP 11. She also told the officer she did not know anything. *Id.*

Officer Kelley spoke with Mr. Fitzpatrick, who clarified they were driving to Vancouver to visit Mr. German’s ill mother. CP 11. Mr. Fitzpatrick also told both officers he had borrowed the car from a friend and provided the friend’s name and phone number, but the officers could not make contact with that friend. RP 196-97. Officer Kelley later discovered the car had been transferred to Mr. Fitzpatrick’s name only three days prior, and the record of the sale did not process until June 27, 2017, the same day as the incident in question. RP 159-60.

Without obtaining a warrant, Officer Kelley requested a K-9 unit to the scene. CP 12. Deputy Ness Aguilar responded with his K-9 unit

and applied the dog to the car. CP 13-14. The dog circled the vehicle three times and sat, indicating it detected the odor of drugs. *Id.*

Based on the above, Officer Kelley applied for a search warrant for the car. CP 9-16. The officer asserted there was probable cause to search the car based on the differing reasons for the group's drive, the items located on Mr. German's person, both Mr. German and Mr. Fitzpatrick's histories of drug-related crime, and the dog search. CP 14.

Officer Kelley's affidavit in support of the warrant application incorporated Deputy Aguilar's affidavit. CP 12-14. The deputy claimed he and his K-9 were certified, but included no other information about the dog's training and performance. CP 12-13. In particular, the affidavit failed to state the canine's rates of false positives (alerts where no drugs were found) or false negatives (no alerts where drugs were present) either in training or in the field. Moreover, the affidavit did not include how many times the canine has performed in the field and did not indicate whether the animal had ever been used in the field at all.

Although the dog search of the car occurred without a warrant, and the search warrant affidavit provided no information about the dog's reliability, a judge signed a warrant permitting officers to search Mr. Fitzpatrick's car. CP 16. The subsequent search revealed



methamphetamine in a container in the trunk of the car. RP 204. The State charged Mr. Fitzpatrick with one count of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. CP 3-4.

Mr. Fitzpatrick moved to suppress the evidence, alleging the search exceeded the scope of the warrant because the canine did not alert at the trunk of the car. CP 17-20. The trial court denied the motion, finding the canine exhibited a change of behavior because it “sniffed intently” at the trunk area and sat by the driver’s window. CP 79-80. The court also found “There can be air transfer between the trunk of a car and the passenger compartment; something that is odiferous in the trunk could cause the passenger compartment to smell badly as well.” CP 80. Notably, the warrant affidavit does not include any information about the car’s internal airflow, and no testimony was taken during the motion to suppress. The court concluded the search warrant permitted a search of the entire vehicle, including the trunk, because they are connected. CP 80.

After trial, Mr. Fitzpatrick was acquitted of possession with intent to deliver, but was convicted of simple possession. CP 53-54.

On appeal, Mr. Fitzpatrick argued the application of a canine unit to a person’s car disturbs a “private affair under article I, section 7, thus

requiring a warrant or an exception before the intrusion. Br. of Appellant at 12-20. He acknowledged a dog sniff on a car is not a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, but noted that this Court has repeatedly held article I, section 7 is more protective than the Fourth Amendment in the vehicle context. Br. of Appellant at 12-15. Mr. Fitzpatrick also noted a Division One case rejecting this argument was incorrect because the Court of Appeals improperly relied on a “reasonable expectations of privacy” analysis, which is a Fourth Amendment standard inconsistent with article I, section 7. Br. of Appellant at 15-17.

Alternatively, Mr. Fitzpatrick argued the evidence should have been suppressed because the State failed to prove the reliability of the canine whose alert supported the search warrant that was later issued. Again, Mr. Fitzpatrick noted the greater protections afforded citizens by article I, section 7 in this context in comparison with the Fourth Amendment. Br. of Appellant at 20-24.

The Court of Appeals rejected both arguments. The court acknowledged article I, section 7’s greater privacy protections, but found the dog sniff in this case did not amount to a “search” implicating our constitution. Slip Op. at 4. The Court relied on *State v.*

*Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. 918, 929, 237 P.3d 928 (2010), to hold that no search occurred because Mr. Fitzpatrick “did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the air outside his car.” Slip Op. at 1, 5.

As to the second issue, the court found a drug-detection dog’s reliability could be established solely by a statement that the dog is trained or certified. Slip Op. at 10. The court further found the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test for reliability of an informant’s tip does not apply to drug-detection dogs. *Id.* at 10. The court found no error in the trial court’s ruling that probable cause supported the search warrant, and affirmed Mr. Fitzpatrick’s conviction. *Id.* at 10.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

##### **1. The question of whether a drug dog’s inspection of a car disturbs a private affair is a significant constitutional question this Court should resolve.**

*a. Drug dogs disturb private affairs because they reveal information people do not expose to public view.*

Under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7, the warrantless use of a drug-detection dog on a person’s home is impermissible. *See Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1417-18, 185 L. Ed. 2d 495 (2013); *State v. Dearman*, 92 Wn. App. 630, 636, 962 P.2d 850 (1998). This is because “using a narcotics dog goes beyond merely enhancing natural human senses and, in effect,

allows officers to ‘see through the walls’ of the home.’” *Dearman*, 92 Wn. App. at 635 (citing *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 183, 867 P.2d 593 (1994)). The court relied on *Young*, in which this Court held the use of an infrared radiation detector outside a home disturbs a private affair. 123 Wn.2d at 183. This is because even though the device was applied to the exterior of the home, it “allowed the officers to see more than what Mr. Young left exposed to public view.” *Id.*

The U.S. Supreme Court has declined to extend this rationale in the vehicle context, finding application of a narcotics-detection dog is not a search because it does not implicate an “interest in privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable.” *Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 408-09, 125 S. Ct. 834, 160 L. Ed. 2d 842 (2005) (citing *U.S. v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 122, 104 S. Ct. 1652, 80 L. Ed. 2d 85 (1984)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Article I, section 7, however, is not “grounded in notions of reasonableness. Rather, it prohibits any disturbance of an individual’s private affairs without authority of law.” Const. art. I, § 7; *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177, 194, 275 P.3d 289 (2012). Accordingly, article I, section 7 affords greater privacy protection in the vehicle context than the Fourth Amendment. Because a drug detection dog detects more than what a driver leaves

exposed to public view, it disturbs a private affair under the state constitution, and a warrant or exception is required.

*b. Article I, section 7 provides stronger privacy protection in the vehicle context than the Fourth Amendment and stronger protection against pretextual intrusions.*

The Court of Appeals dismissed *Dearman* because that case involved a home, which the court acknowledged “receive[s] more protection under article I, section 7 than vehicles.” Slip Op. at 7. But as Mr. Fitzpatrick noted, this Court has repeatedly held that Washington’s citizens indeed have a privacy interest in their cars which they are entitled to hold safe from governmental intrusion absent a warrant. Br. of Appellant at 14-15.

“From the earliest days of the automobile in this state, this court has acknowledged the privacy interest of individuals and objects in automobiles.” *City of Seattle v. Mesiani*, 110 Wn.2d 454, 456-57, 755 P.2d 775 (1988); see also *State v. Parker*, 139 Wn.2d 486, 494, 987 P.2d 73 (1999). Accordingly, while the Fourth Amendment permits an “automobile exception” to the warrant requirement, no such exception exists under article I, section 7. *See Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d at 192.

Additionally, Washington Courts have refused to permit invasions of the right to privacy in cars in other contexts. For example,

article I, section 7 prohibits sobriety checkpoints even though they are permissible under the Fourth Amendment. *Mesiani*, 110 Wn.2d at 457-58; contrast *Michigan Department of State Police v. Sitz*, 496 U.S. 444, 455, 110 S. Ct. 2481, 110 L. Ed. 2d 412 (1990). And, while police may make pretextual stops under the Fourth Amendment, such stops offend article I, section 7. Compare *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 813, 116 S. Ct. 1769, 135 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1996); *State v. Chacon Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d 284, 294, 290 P.3d 983 (2012). Furthermore, Washington requires a warrant to search a vehicle incident to arrest regardless of whether it contains evidence of the crime of arrest, while the Fourth Amendment would permit a warrantless search in such circumstances. *Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d at 197.

The pretext cases not only provide further evidence of Washington's strong privacy protection in cars, but also indicate this Court should be concerned about the specific issue presented here. Scholars have warned that the absence of constitutional protection against warrantless canine inspections "allow[s] law enforcement to conduct searches when they see fit and for reasons that do not establish probable cause, such as race." Taylor Phipps, *Probable Cause on A Leash*, 23 B.U. Pub. Int. L.J. 57, 73 (2014). Indeed, an

attorney for the Mexican American Legal Defense and Education Fund suggests, “police are using dogs to target the Hispanic community.” *Id.* Such practices are inconsistent with the Washington Constitution’s guarantees of privacy and equality, and this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

*c. Article I, section 7 does not depend on notions of “reasonableness.”*

Article I, section 7 not only provides more protection than the Fourth Amendment, but its protections and its relevant analysis are qualitatively different. *See Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d at 187. Article I, section 7 analysis does not rely on the “reasonable expectation of privacy” rationale. “Private affairs are not determined according to a person’s subjective expectation of privacy.” *State v. Surge*, 160 Wn.2d 65, 72, 156 P.3d 208 (2007). Instead, the private affairs inquiry focuses on “those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant.” *Id.* at 71 (quoting *Young*, 123 Wn.2d at 181).

The Court of Appeals rejected this Court’s admonition that article I, section 7 is “not grounded in notions of reasonableness.” *Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d at 194. It relied on Division One’s opinion in *Hartzell*, which held the use of a drug detection dog to the exterior of a

car did not constitute a “search” because there was no “reasonable expectation of privacy.” *Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. at 929; Slip Op. at 7. This analysis is inappropriate under article I, section 7, which “prohibits any disturbance of an individual’s private affairs without authority of law.” *Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d at 194.

*d. Other states have held that canine sniffs outside cars are “searches” under their state constitutions.*

Although *Caballes* held the application of a drug-detection canine to the exterior of a car is not a “search” under the Fourth Amendment, some courts have reached the opposite conclusion under their state constitutions. For example, “[a] canine sniff is a search pursuant to Article I, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania Constitution.” *Commonwealth v. Green*, 2017 PA Super 244, 168 A.3d 180, 185 (2017) (citing *Commonwealth v. Rogers*, 578 Pa. 127, 849 A.2d 1185, 1190 (2004)); *see also id.* at n.8 (contrasting *Caballes*, 543 U.S. at 409). Similarly, “[e]mploying a trained canine to sniff a person’s private vehicle in order to determine whether controlled substances are concealed inside is certainly a search” under the New Hampshire Constitution. *State v. Pellicci*, 133 N.H. 523, 533, 580 A.2d 710, 716 (1990); *see also id.* at 531 (rejecting U.S. Supreme Court’s analysis in *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696, 707, 103



S.Ct. 2637, 77 L.Ed.2d 110 (1983)). Given our state constitution's exceptional protection of privacy, the same should be true under article I, section 7.

Indeed, this Court should grant review to address the question of whether the use of a narcotics-detection dog to the outside of a person's car disturbs a private affair and thus requires a warrant or exception prior to the intrusion. Other states have addressed the issue and held their constitutions provide greater protection in this context than the Fourth Amendment. This Court has consistently held not only that article I, section 7 provides more protection than the Fourth Amendment, but also that analysis under this provision does not depend on reasonable expectations of privacy. It is important for this Court to address the issue of drug-detection dogs and condemn their warrantless use to invade a person's privacy and detect what an individual has not exposed to the public.

**2. This Court should accept review to determine whether the State must prove the reliability of a dog's alert in order to support probable cause for the issuance of a warrant.**

This Court should also accept review of the second issue in this case and hold that article I, section 7 provides greater protection against unreliable dog alerts than the Fourth Amendment.

A dog's alert is treated like an informant's tip in the context of detecting narcotics. *See Florida v. Harris*, 568 U.S. 237, 133 S. Ct. 1050, 1056, 185 L. Ed. 2d 61 (2013). Washington adheres to the two-pronged "*Aguilar-Spinelli*"<sup>1</sup> test to determine whether an informant's tip can support probable cause. *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 432, 435, 688 P.2d 136 (1984). For an informant's tip to create probable cause, the State must show: (1) "the reliability of the manner in which the informant acquired his information," and (2) "the informant was credible or his information reliable." *Id.* The *Jackson* court made clear that for article I, section 7 purposes, "unless it can be shown that the tip came from an honest or reliable person who acquired the information in the particular case in a reliable way, an arrest or search should not be permitted on the basis of the tip." *Id.* at 442.

Here, the Court of Appeals mischaracterized Mr. Fitzpatrick's reliance on *Harris*, noting that nothing in *Harris* "suggests that courts must apply the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test to a controlled substance detection dog alert." Slip Op. at 10. Rather, Mr. Fitzpatrick relied on *Harris* simply to demonstrate that in the context of detecting narcotics, dog

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 89 S. Ct. 584, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637 (1969); *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d 723 (1964).

alerts are treated like informants' tips. Thus, because our courts continue to apply the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test to determine the reliability of an informant's tip, so must they analyze the reliability of a dog alert pursuant to the same test.

The Court of Appeals also noted *Harris* "stated that evidence of a dog's satisfactory completion of a certification or training program can presumptively establish the dog's reliability." Slip Op. at 10; *Harris*, 568 U.S. at 246-47. Therefore, the court concluded, because the State established the dog in this case was trained and certified, the State satisfied its burden to prove the animal's reliability. Slip Op. at 10.

The reasoning in *Harris* does not apply here. *Harris* is a Fourth Amendment case involving a dog alert which the Florida Supreme Court found unreliable due the State's failure to present evidence of the animal's performance history. 568 U.S. at 242. The U.S. Supreme Court reversed. *Id.* at 250. It ruled the Florida court's "strict" reliability requirement was inconsistent with the holding in *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527 (1983), in which the Supreme Court abandoned the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test and held the reliability of an informant's tip must be evaluated under the totality of the circumstances. *Harris*, 568 U.S. at 244-45.

However, under Washington law, strict reliability requirements remain. *See Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 441 (rejecting *Gates*). Thus, this Court should accept review to address the issue of how *Jackson* applies to the reliability of canine alerts. It should hold that the evidence presented in this case was insufficient to demonstrate reliability and establish probable cause.

Here, the State presented evidence in its search warrant application that the canine was trained and certified in 2016 and 2017. No additional information about the dog's performance, in training or in the field, was provided to the magistrate. The affidavit does not explain what is required for certification and does not include the animal's track record in training or in the field. In fact, the affidavit fails to indicate whether this particular dog has ever been used in the field to detect narcotics. Without this information, the evidence included in the affidavit was insufficient to show the canine's reliability.

An informant's track record is important for determining whether the informant is reliable or credible. *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 437. In Washington, a dog sniff has been sufficient to establish probable cause where the dog's track record was specifically included

in the affidavit submitted to obtain a search warrant. *See, e.g., State v. Jackson*, 82 Wn. App. 594, 606, 918 P.2d 945 (1996) (“dog’s training and track record . . . were subsequently shown in the affidavit” (emphasis added)); *State v. Flores-Moreno*, 72 Wn. App. 733, 741, 866 P.2d 648 (1994) (affidavit stated canine had participated in 97 searches in which narcotics were found).

Courts must not accept training and certification of a canine as a sufficient proxy for true evidence of the animal’s reliability. This is because canines, like the one here, are “trained to detect the odor of controlled substance,” not the actual *presence* of such substances. CP 13 (emphasis added). Thus, “the dog that alerts hundreds of times will be wrong dozens of times.” *Caballes*, 543 U.S. at 412 (Souter, J., dissenting). Indeed, the “infallible dog” is “creature of legal fiction,” “belied by judicial opinions describing well-trained animals sniffing and alerting with less than perfect accuracy, whether owing to errors by their handlers, the limitations of the dogs themselves, or even the pervasive contamination of currency by cocaine.” *Id.* at 411-12 (collecting cases and studies). A person’s private affairs should not be disturbed simply because an animal apparently detects the *odor* of a substance.

Here, the government presented no information about the canine's track record of false positives or false negatives. More concerning still, the affidavit failed to even state whether this particular animal had ever performed in the field at all. Without this information, there is insufficient evidence the canine is reliable, and its alert should not have been considered for the probable cause determination. This Court should accept review to address this important issue. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Fitzpatrick respectfully requests that review be granted. RAP 13.4(b).