FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/21/2019 12:22 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97190-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

SHAWN FITZPATRICK,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN Prosecuting Attorney

AILA R. WALLACE/WSBA 46898 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, by and through the Cowlitz County
Prosecuting Attorney's Office, respectfully requests this Court deny
review of the April 9, 2019, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals
in *State v. Fitzpatrick*, COA No. 50864-8-II. This decision upheld the
petitioner's conviction for one count of possession of methamphetamine.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals properly held that a sniff by a trained narcotic-detecting dog of the air outside a vehicle is not search subject to constitutional protections. Additionally, the Court of Appeals properly held that the State established K9 Kelo's reliability such that the search warrant was supported by probable cause.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 27, 2017, at around 4 a.m., Trooper Kyle Lindemann stopped Shawn Fitzpatrick for speeding on I-5. RP 178. Fitzpatrick informed Trooper Lindemann that his driver's license was suspended, and Lindemann ultimately placed him under arrest for driving with a suspended license. RP 179. While the trooper was speaking with Fitzpatrick, he also noticed that both the front seat passenger and backseat passenger appeared nervous. RP 184, CP 10. They were looking around

repeatedly and were unable to sit still. CP 10. Fitzpatrick informed the trooper that they were going to Vancouver to see his mother and to drop off the car they were driving and pick up a different car. *Id.* Fitzpatrick stated the car was not his and gave Trooper Lindemann the name and phone number of the owner. RP 186. Officers attempted to contact that person but were unable to reach him. RP 187. Lindemann thought Fitzpatrick's responses were vague and suspicious, and he also knew that Fitzpatrick had a DOC warrant on an original charge of unlawful possession of a controlled substance, so he called for back-up. RP 179, CP 11. Officer Kelley of the Woodland Police Department arrived a short time later. RP 179. Officer Kelley is a Drug Recognition Expert, or DRE. CP 11, RP 193.

Officer Kelley spoke to Dustin German, the front seat passenger, when he arrived. German gave Officer Kelley a number of different explanations of where they were going; he initially stated they were going to Vancouver but later stated they were going to Newport, Oregon. CP 11. During their conversation, Officer Kelley noticed that German was unable to stand still and his eyes were very droopy. *Id.* This was consistent with a person who is coming down from a stimulant drug. A short time later, Officer Kelley was informed that German had a DOC warrant on an original charge of unlawful possession of a controlled substance, and he

was arrested. *Id.* The backseat passenger was allowed to walk away from the scene. CP 11, RP 179.

Officer Kelley also spoke to Fitzpatrick who stated that the vehicle belonged to a friend. RP 196. This was later discovered to be untrue; the Department of Licensing records indicated a record of sale on June 24, 2017, which transferred ownership of the vehicle to Fitzpatrick. RP 159–60. Trooper Lindemann then transported Fitzpatrick to jail and Officer Kelley requested a K9 unit come to the scene. RP 197, CP 12.

Deputy Ness Aguilar arrived with his canine, Kelo. His affidavit, which was included in Officer Kelley's affidavit in support of the search warrant, states that he and Kelo are certified in both Washington and Oregon in accordance with WAC 139-05-915 and Oregon Revised Statute 167.310(7). CP 12. Deputy Aguilar explained the 200 hours of training that he and Kelo went through to obtain certification, which includes detection of controlled substances, vehicle searching, and testing aptitude. *Id.* Kelo is trained to detect the odor of controlled substances, specifically cocaine, heroin, and methamphetamine. *Id.* at 13. Deputy Aguilar's affidavit also states that he and Kelo continue to train for at least four hours per week; this training includes controlled negatives, varied quantities and types of narcotics, and novel odors. *Id.* Finally, Deputy

Aguilar's affidavit explains Kelo's response when the odor of controlled substances is detected.

When Deputy Aguilar and Kelo arrived at the scene on June 27, they began their investigation of the car at the front, near the license plate. CP 13. Kelo started sniffing the vehicle in a counter-clockwise direction, and showed an extreme change in behavior near the open driver's side window. He indicated the odor of controlled substances by sitting. *Id.* at 14. He continued around the vehicle, showing a change in behavior at the rear, trunk area of the car by sniffing intently. Kelo ultimately sniffed around the vehicle three times, indicating the odor of controlled substances by sitting near the driver's side window each time. *Id.*

Officer Kelley utilized this information, as well as the group's differing responses about their travel plans and Fitzpatrick's history of drug crimes, to request and ultimately receive a signed search warrant for the vehicle. Upon searching it, he found a black box that contained a substantial amount of methamphetamine, a scale, and two used methamphetamine pipes. RP 204–5. Fitzpatrick was charged with one count of possession with intent to deliver. CP 3.

Prior to trial, Fitzpatrick moved to suppress the evidence stemming from the search warrant, arguing that the search exceeded the scope of the warrant. CP 19. He argued that Kelo detected the odor of controlled

substances near the driver's door, not the trunk area, so the search of the trunk was outside the scope of the warrant. *Id.* The trial court disagreed, holding that the passenger compartment of a vehicle and the trunk are connected, separated only by seats, so the search warrant to search the entire vehicle was not overbroad. RP 15.

After trial, Fitzpatrick was acquitted of possession with intent to deliver but convicted of simple possession. CP 53–4. He appealed his conviction and the Court of Appeals upheld. He now petitions this Court for review.

IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four

conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division II Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The holding also does not raise a significant question of law or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not raise a significant constitutional question that the Court should resolve because a canine sniff of the air outside a vehicle is not a search subject to constitutional protection.

Both the United States Constitution and the Washington
Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution states that "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7. A search under the Washington Constitution occurs "when the government disturbs those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespasses absent a warrant." *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 868, 319 P.3d 9 (2014). If no search occurs, Article I, Section 7 is not implicated. *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 181, 867 P.2d 593 (1994).

A search does not occur when a law enforcement officer detects something using his senses from a nonintrusive vantage point. *State v. Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. 918, 929, 237 P.3d 928 (2010), *citing State v.*

Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 901, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). When a canine sniffs an object from an area where the suspect does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy, and the sniff itself is minimally intrusive, no search has occurred. *State v. Boyce*, 44 Wn. App. 724, 730, 723 P.2d 28 (1986) (K9 sniff of the defendant's safety deposit box was not a search because the sniff occurred from an area where the defendant does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy and was minimally intrusive); Hartzell, 156 Wn. App. at 929-30 (dog sniff from a lawful vantage point outside of the defendant's vehicle that was minimally intrusive is not a search); Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 125 S.Ct. 834, 838 (2005) (no legitimate privacy interest is implicated by allowing a drug detection dog to sniff the exterior of a vehicle during a lawful traffic stop). The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case follows Hartzell, Boyce, and Caballes, and is therefore not in conflict with decisions from other divisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court.

Additionally, there is no significant constitutional question here.

Fitzpatrick argues that the Court of Appeals engaged in an improper

Fourth Amendment analysis when deciding *Hartzell*, instead of an Article

I, Section 7 analysis. This is simply incorrect. In both *Boyce* and *Hartzell*, the Courts examined the nature of the intrusion into each

defendant's private affairs that was occasioned by the canine sniff. *Boyce*,

44 Wn. App. at 729; *Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. at 930. When Division I discussed a "reasonable expectation of privacy," it was specifically determining whether a search had occurred pursuant to Article I, Section 7's prohibition against unreasonable intrusions into a person's private affairs. *See Young*, 123 Wn.2d at 181. There was no unreasonable intrusion into Fitzpatrick's private affairs when Kelo walked around his car and sniffed for controlled substances. Therefore, the canine sniff of Fitzpatrick's vehicle did not constitute a search subject to constitutional protection. This case raises no constitutional question that has not been settled by current case law.

B. The Court of Appeals decision that the canine's reliability was shown is not in conflict with any other decisions and it does not raise a significant constitutional question.

Fitzpatrick argues that the affidavit in support of the search warrant did not establish probable cause because the affidavit did not supply sufficient information for the reviewing magistrate to determine if Kelo was reliable. This argument fails. The issuance of a search warrant is reviewed only for abuse of discretion. *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004). Generally, "an alert from a trained drug dog is sufficient to establish probable cause for the presence of a controlled substance." *State v. Jackson*, 82 Wn. App. 594, 606, 918 P.2d 945 (1996); *State v. Stanphill*, 53 Wn. App. 623, 632, 769 P.2d 861 (1989) (a canine

can be found reliable based on a statement that the dog is trained and certified; a showing of the dog's track record is not required); *see also United States v Klein*, 626 F.2d 22, 27 (7th Cir. 1980); *United States v. Venema*, 563 F.2d 1003, 1007 (10th Cir. 1976) (holding that a statement that the drug dog in question was a "trained, certified marijuana sniffing dog" was sufficient to establish reliability); *United States v. Meyer*, 536 F.2d 963, 965 (1st Cir. 1976) (holding that a statement that the dog was "trained" was sufficient to establish reliability).

In *State v. Gross*, the affidavit in support of the search warrant stated that the dog was "trained for the detection of marijuana, hashish, cocaine, and heroin," was "certified by the Washington State Police Canine Association and the Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission," and was qualified in both local courts and in federal courts." *State v. Gross*, 57 Wn. App. 549, 551, 789 P.2d 317 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 977 P.2d 582 (1999).

In this case, the affidavit in support of the search warrant established that K9 Kelo and his handler are certified through the Washington Criminal Justice Training Commission and the Oregon Police Canine Association in accordance with WAC 139-05-915 and ORS 167.310(7), respectively. CP 12. The affidavit also described the

minimum 200 hours of training canine teams are required to have and explained that K9 Kelo and Deputy Aguilar completed that training in 2016 and were recertified in 2017. CP 12–13, 34. This information was similar to the information provided in *Stanphill* and *Gross* and is therefore not in conflict with decisions from other divisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court.

Similarly, this case raises no constitutional question that has not been settled by current case law. The reliability of a narcotic dog must be shown in the warrant affidavit; Kelo's reliability was shown here.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests this Court deny Fitzpatrick's petition for review.